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The Strange Twist of History


This was where the thread first came into view, an old stone palace miles up a rutted dirt track, alone in the gum resin trees and elephant grass. We parked next to the wives’ quarters, a small village of soot-blackened walls and peaked zinc roofs. Young men in frayed clothes guided us through a twisting corridor to the king’s court. My friend Walter and I waited on benches until the eighty-year-old king, the fon, beckoned us from his wood throne in the fading gray light. We crossed the courtyard in an extended bow. The fon, wearing a black skullcap and a light blue boubou robe, sat rigidly erect in his chair, sipping a local liqueur called Marula Fruit Cream from a Baltimore Orioles mug. His face was long and stolid, thin clenched lips and cold rheumy eyes. He spoke haltingly in his language, showing teeth like weathered pickets. Walter translated that the king was welcoming us, and I nodded and smiled as the palace guard hissed at me to take my hands out of my pockets. After further formalities, I was told to kneel before the king and cup my hands at my mouth, as he poured a blessing of the liqueur so copious it streamed down my right arm under my jacket. Walter whispered to me that this was the highest honor, to show effusive gratitude. I sighed, knowing my sleeve would be stuck to my skin until my next shower, whenever that might be. As evening came, the young men, whom I had taken to be street hustlers and now realized were princes, guided me to a perch in the canopy on the high ridge. I let them walk off so I could have a moment alone.


As I listened to the dry rasp of the elephant grass, I gazed out over the Kingdom of Kom. A narrow gorge threaded through the lush terrain below, opening into a smoky blue chasm in the distance, the Valley of Too Many Bends. A cluster of white streetlights hovered on a dark crest a few miles away—Njinikom, a town to which earlier kings once banished sorcerers and foreign missionaries. The crumpled topography of these mountains had long repelled invaders, colonists, and change. Many villagers still lived in red earthen huts with grass roofs, collected firewood before dusk, and poured libations of palm wine on the ground for their ancestors. The view from this spot had not changed much in centuries. Only that tremulous constellation of electric lights broke the deepening shades of blue.


The footpath wended down into the darkness, almost two thousand feet below, where I was told a momentous baobab tree stood near the river. The story is that it fell one day, years ago, cried and cried all night, and the following morning was standing again. Villagers call it “the talking tree.”


Mythical stories abound up here, filling the void left by an unwritten history. It is said the Kom were led to this very spot by a python. But the story that no one talks about is the true story of the people removed from this land. This belt of fertile savannah in western Cameroon rested at a terrible crossroads, with no forest to hide in when the marauders arrived. The kings may have been safe in their fortified isolation, but their people were not. They were taken first by Arab invaders in the Sudan in the north, and then by the southern peoples who found that humans were the commodity Europeans most desired.


Captured and bound together, they were driven on long marches, some south across the sweltering lowlands to the mangrove estuaries of the coastal kings, some west through sheer mountain rain forest to the Cross River, where merchants loaded them onto canoes and rowed three hundred miles south to the port of Old Calabar. Those who survived had been handed from tribe to tribe, through too many hostile foreign territories to dream of escaping and returning home. And then off they went, into the sea.


High on a ridge, three hundred miles by road from the Atlantic, I sat at the headwaters of that outward movement, imagining the people flowing away like the rivers below. I pictured a boy, gazing down into that blue mountain cradle, the grass dry-swishing in the breeze, the drums coming up with the night. A boy suddenly pulled into the current and scrambling to reach the bank. A boy unable to imagine the ocean and sickly white men in big wooden ships and the swampy, malarial settlement called Jamestown where he would be sold to a planter in the year of their lord 1644.


This is the beginning, I said to myself. The beginning of my family’s story, the point just after which my forebears obscured the truth—and nearly buried it forever.


A FEW DAYS later, on the coast, I caught a motorcycle taxi to a ferry terminal late at night. The air was fresh and fragrant as we sputtered along the edge of an old botanical garden where the German colonials tried to find tropical medicines. At the port, the driver dropped me at a hulking stone warehouse, where I had bought my ticket that afternoon. The boat was to leave at three-thirty in the morning. Passengers milled about or slept on straw mats under high ceiling fans. Bleary and dry-eyed, I handed my passport to an officer behind a desk. He inspected it briefly, then leaned back in his chair, arched his eyebrows, and opened his palms in mock challenge. “Mozingo. That is your name?”


“Yes.”


He smiled and shook his head. “That is not an American name.”


“I know.”


He turned to two women behind him and showed them my passport. They joked in the local pidgin language, and he turned back to me. “That is a Cameroonian name. How do you have it?”


“I might have had an ancestor from here.”


“So your father came from Cameroon?” he asked, rightfully dubious. I am white, with straight, light brown hair and blue eyes. No one has ever mistaken me for anything else.


“Not my father, an ancestor. Way, way back,” I said.


“Your grandfather?”


“No, long before him.” I had already come to realize that the past here, unrecorded almost until the twentieth century, was somehow compressed. When events beyond memory were not fixed in writing, they swirled about, unmoored from linearity, and 358 years didn’t mean too much more than “a long, long time.”


“But who gave you the name?” he asked.


“Well, it’s different in America,” I said. “We just get whatever name our father has. It just goes down the line. Automatic.”


He still seemed unconvinced. Our accents muddled our points to each other, and I didn’t think explaining further was going to clear things up. But I took it as a good sign that I had come to the right region of Africa, that he, of all people, had that spark of recognition; every day he took several hundred passports, stamped them for the trip to neighboring Nigeria, then called out for the owners to take them back. He must have known the names of this region like few others.


“Let me ask you, which part of Cameroon does this name come from?” I asked.


“That is Kribi, east province,” he said definitively.


I thanked him and wrote it down. I’d have to look that up on my map.


We boarded a modern, air-conditioned ferry and took off in the dark along a desolate coast for Old Calabar, about a hundred miles west in Nigeria. As we left the port, we passed under the bulk of Mt. Cameroon, hidden in the night, rising thirteen thousand feet straight from the sea. Long before any Europeans saw the great volcanic massif, one of earth’s great migrations set off from the other side of it, peopling most of southern Africa. The Bantu Expansion.


The captain read a bit of scripture as we set off, Psalm 91:9–16, something about “crushing fee-yerce lions and sare-punts under your feet.” I fell asleep and came to after dawn to see a distant gray sliver of treetops between gray water and gray sky. This was the view that the slave captains and crews would have seen, an endless knotted line of coast where a good portion of them would meet their death.


The shore slipped in and out of view for an hour or so. At one point, an armada of fishermen in canoes sailed past for deep waters, rising and falling on loping swells. With tattered plastic tarps strung between bamboo poles, they caught a light offshore wind from the lowlands. Some were father-and-son teams, the boys mending the nets as they traveled. Other canoes had five or six people. Ahead of them lay no horizon, only a gloom of ocean vanishing into a gloom of air, with the vague outline of a thunderhead to the west. Far out in the gray murk, orange flares burned in the oil fields of the Niger Delta. The fire flickering in the vaporous abyss was dreamlike, and somehow disturbing in my sleep-deprived state, as if the fishermen were ferrying souls to Hades. I’d never had such an unsettling reaction to a seascape.


We came into the wide mouth of the Cross River, rocking sideways on a beaming sea. The engines wound down sharply as we approached a reef or shoal, and the captain turned hard left and then right to maneuver. Two sticks with red rags hanging from them apparently marked a channel. The move felt panicked, and I braced for impact, thinking of all the African ferry disasters I’d read about. The exit door was right behind me, and I thought, At least the water’s warm. But the captain threaded through the sticks and throttled the engines back up. The outgoing current was running fast, breaking white off the channel markers and crab trap buoys. This must have been a nerve-racking entry for the slavers. The Dutch sailors largely avoided Old Calabar for this very reason, but the English learned its ways, and in the mid-1600s developed a brisk trade of slaves between the Efik chiefs and the planters in Barbados.


An English captain, William Snelgrave, traded regularly in Old Calabar and left a rare account of his transactions:


As soon as the natives perceive a ship on their coast, they make a smoke on the seashore as a signal for the ship to come to an anchor, that they may come and trade with the people aboard. As soon as we are at an anchor, they come to us in small boats, called Cannoes, being made of a single tree, and bring their commodities with them.


Like most Europeans, Snelgrave figured he would be killed if he ventured inland and set foot ashore only on a few occasions. He knew nothing of the continent—three times the size of Europe—beyond the impervious thicket of foliage backing the beach.


In those few places where I have been on shore myself, I could never obtain a satisfactory account from the natives of the inland parts. Nor did I ever meet with a white man that had been . . . up in the country; and believe, if any had attempted it, the natives would have destroyed them. . . . However the trade on this part of the coast has been exceedingly improved within these 20 years past. It consists in negroes, elephants teeth, and other commodities; which the natives freely bring on board our ships, except when any affront has been offered them.


The affronts, he explained, had occurred when the ships took away not just the goods and people being sold, but the sellers too.


He called the natives here “barbarous and uncivilized” mainly because they had had such limited interaction with the Europeans, compared to those at points west and south, who had dealings with forts and trading depots.


I have, in my younger years, traded to many places in this tract, especially at Old Calabar, where, in the year 1704, I saw a sad instance of barbarity. The king of the place, called Jabrue, being fallen sick, he caused, by the advice of his priests, a young child about ten months old to be sacrificed to his god, for his recovery. I saw the child after it was killed, hung up on the bough of a tree, with a live cock tied near it, as an addition to the ceremony.


The odd thing about Captain Snelgrave was that he conveyed deep objections to such scenes, even as he took a leading role in a wider atrocity. On his thirteen trips between Africa and America, including three to Virginia, he carried nearly five thousand slaves away, and over nine hundred of them died during the crossing. The paradox was particularly vexing when he sailed the Anne from London to Old Calabar in 1713. A new king, Acqua, sat on a stool under some shade trees, and the captain took the stool beside him. Ten armed sailors accompanied him, standing off to one side, while fifty of the king’s guards stood across from them with swords, bows and arrows, and barbed lances.


The captain noticed a baby boy tied by one leg to a stake in the ground, with “flies and other vermin crawling on him, and two priests standing by.” He asked the king why the child was bound there. The king said “it was to be sacrificed to his God Igbo for his prosperity.”


Appalled, Snelgrave ordered his men to remove the child. A ruckus ensued, with weapons drawn all around. The captain told the king he meant no harm, to relax, and they sat back down. The king averred that the child was his property. “This I acknowledged,” Snelgrave wrote, excusing his actions “on account of my religion, which, though it does not allow of forcibly taking away what belongs to another, yet expressly forbids so horrid a thing as the putting a poor innocent child to death. I also observed to him, that the grand law of nature was to do to others as we desired to be done unto.”


Snelgrave offered to buy the boy, and much to his delight, the king agreed to sell him for a mere bunch of sky-colored beads, worth half a crown sterling, bringing us to one of the most profoundly deranged happy endings ever written:


The day before I went on shore to see the king, I had purchased the mother of the child (though I knew it not then) from one of his people; and at that time my surgeon observing to me that she had much milk in her breasts, I inquired of the person that brought her on board, whether she had a child when he bought her from the inland trader. To which he answered negative. But now on my coming on board, no sooner was the child handed into the ship, but this poor woman espying it, run with great eagerness and snatched him out of the white man’s arms that held him. I think there never was a more moving sight than on this occasion between the mother and her little son (who was a fine boy about 18 months old) especially when the linguist told her I had saved her child from being sacrificed. Having at that time above 300 negroes on board my ship, no sooner was the story known amongst them, but they expressed their thankfulness to me, by clapping their hands, and singing a song in my praise. This affair proved of great service to us, for it gave them a good notion of white men, for that we had no mutiny in our ship during the whole voyage.


Snelgrave leaves his account of the trip at that, with the slaves singing happily across the sea.


The mercantile records of the voyage cast a pall on this party: he picked up more slaves before he left Africa, ultimately setting off for Antigua with 395. The chorus lost plenty of voices. Ninety-five Africans died during the crossing—one out of four. Two corpses a day on average were thrown overboard. There is no record of whether the mother or her child survived the passage.


I GAZED THROUGH the salt-smeared window of the ferry, half-listening to a Nigerian sitcom about two hustlers, Silas and Titus, on a TV mounted to the ceiling in the cabin. We’d come closer to shore, which appeared as a low colorless ribbon of palms and mangrove now. Villages of thatched and clay huts dotted it here and there, and smoke unspooled from settlements hidden up the creeks that tunneled through the canopy. The river narrowed and then divided into numerous channels that joined again farther upstream. The water grew thick and brown with silt. Bottles and bags and water hyacinths swirled in foamy gyres. We passed an island where the mottled trees of an abandoned rubber plantation tilted with the prevailing wind in neat rows. Heading up a tributary to the right, we slowed before a high bluff. The closer we came through the haze the better I could make out the glinting gray-brown lines of a city. We pulled up along a wharf with little warehouses and the hulks of half-sunk ships.


“There were some very strong currents today,” the captain said on the loudspeaker. “That is why we are late. But it is better late than never. That is why we must pray to Jesus Christ.” Which he did. The strange twist of history—and this story is all about strange twists of history—was that the solitary white man on board was not among the converted.


I disembarked down the gangway to the quay. The air was wilting and smelled like diesel and pond dredge. Old Calabar was a modern city of 1.2 million people, and any glimpse of the traditional village life that Snelgrave encountered here had long been paved over. I walked past money changers and hustlers and cell phone card hawkers to a spot where I could look up the river. Silos and tanks and concrete wharves continued up to a hard bend west, and mangroves obscured the opposite bank.


In the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, the slave traders paddled here down the Cross River from the interior in fleets of twenty or more canoes, each carrying twenty or more slaves. The captives often came originally from the Grassfields and were marched to the jungle village of Mamfe, 250 miles upriver from here. Illustrations from the time show the captives’ arms tied behind their backs, with wishbone branches and ligatures binding them together by the neck. The river cut a long arching course to the coast, like a shepherd’s staff, through rain forest that is now home to some of the last gorillas in West Africa and that still boasts chimpanzees, hippopotamuses, crocodiles, forest elephants, and drill monkeys. As the canoes neared the coast, Efik traders purchased the slaves to sell, in turn, to the whites, mostly for bars of copper, iron, guns, ammunition, and liquor.


The boy whom I and every Mozingo in America appear to have descended from might have come this way to the Atlantic. Mosingas were certainly taken out of the nearby Rio del Rey, where at the moment the “creek tribes” were kidnapping outsiders, putting a damper on my prospects of going there. I had set out to trace the story of that boy’s origin, but I was beginning to wonder if I would ever really know where he came from. He may have lived nowhere near here. He may have embarked from a point a thousand miles south, in Angola. After months of research, I was still left weighing mere bits of the evidence on the two sides of a balance: Old Calabar in one pan, Angola in the other.


If he had come from Angola, he had likely seen and dealt with white people before; European traders and soldiers set up their first colony there in the 1500s. He may even have been of mixed race. But arriving in Old Calabar from the interior, he would probably never have seen a white person and might have thought they were buying him to eat; slaves were said to have thought the red wine the sailors drank was Africans’ blood and that the cheese of the captain’s table was made from Africans’ brains.


The captains inspected the slaves and sorted out the infirm, the deformed, the weak and aged. Bad eyes, feeble joints, slender frames, and rotten teeth were grounds for rejection. Those purchased shuffled aboard, the men shackled together, and waited for weeks and even months until the ship was full and ready to set sail. Those rejected suffered their own terrible fates.


“The traders frequently beat those negroes which are objected to by the captains,” wrote Alexander Falconbridge, a British surgeon on slave ships to Calabar and elsewhere in the 1780s. At a nearby port, “the traders have frequently been known to put them to death. Instances have happened at that place, that the traders, when any of their negroes have been objected to, have dropped their canoes under the stern of the vessel, and instantly beheaded them in sight of the captain.”


I walked along the quay to the immigration office. Two men struggled to row a canoe filled with sand, the river rising up to its gunwales. Sand was big trade all along the waterway. Merchants bought it and sold it to Chinese road contractors to be mixed with concrete.


My mind kept going back to that gray abyss with no horizon I saw from the ferry. I struggled to fathom what the kidnapped people thought as they set off into that void in a state of pure unknowing, going farther and farther into the featureless Doldrums, crammed together so tightly they struggled to breathe and could barely turn, their excretions, stench, and disease suffusing the airless swelter. They watched the bodies of those who died simply heaved into the void. Once out at sea, many actually thought this was the white men’s world, “this hollow place,” in one man’s account. They had been condemned to a sort of wandering hell, outside of space and time, where the newly dispossessed souls murmured in the minds of the barely living and perhaps only a fear of eternal exile from the soil of their ancestors, from all humanity, would steel their will to survive.


The slaves were usually kept belowdecks in shackles until the ships moved out of sight of land and the prospect of their hijacking the vessels and returning home had vanished. From Old Calabar, this may have been more than a week into the trip, as the ship first sailed a thousand miles west along the coast to Cape Palmas, before moving into the open ocean as the coast turned north. Some captives required a week or more to regain the use of their limbs after being unshackled. To try to tamp down disease, some crews let the slaves up on deck for sun and fresh air and had them clean their quarters with vinegar. Others did not. The month-long crossing killed an average of one in five, claimed by dysentery, smallpox, suicide, yaws, and all manner of unknown afflictions. On some voyages, half the captives died.


Falconbridge described compartments so cramped the slaves could only lie on their sides, and had to scramble over each other in shackles to reach overflowing waste buckets. Many just relieved themselves “as they lie.”


“The exclusion of the fresh air is among the most intolerable,” he wrote. Most ships had a half-dozen air-ports, four-by-six-inches, on each side of the ship. “But whenever the sea is rough, and the rain heavy, it becomes necessary to shut these. [The] negroes rooms very soon grow intolerably hot. The confined air, rendered noxious by the effluvia exhaled from their bodies, and by being repeatedly breathed, soon produces fevers and fluxes, which generally carries off great numbers of them.”


The most emaciated of the slaves, lying on bare planks,


frequently have their skin, and even their flesh, entirely rubbed off, by the motion of the ship, from the prominent parts of the shoulders, elbows, and hips, so as to render the bones in those parts quite bare. . . . While they were in this situation, my profession requiring it, I frequently went down among them, till at length their [compartments] became so extremely hot, as to be only sufferable for a very short time. . . . [The] floor of their rooms was so covered with blood and mucus which had proceeded from them in consequence of the flux that it resembled a slaughterhouse.


The ships sailing from Angola to Brazil had it relatively easy, with a shorter distance and favorable winds. Heading to the Caribbean proved to be deadlier as ships often stalled in the stagnant air over the equator. For the English, Barbados was usually the first stop, the farthest east of the Antilles. But its profile was low and easy to miss. The Dutch had to make their way another six hundred miles to their colony of Curaçao or four hundred to St. Eustatius, while the Portuguese and Spanish traveled even farther, to their ports in Cartagena, Havana, Panama, and Veracruz. The sailors usually spotted gulls, seaweed, and other ships before seeing land, then could smell wafts of grass and sun-beaten earth.


A small handful of the first slaves brought to the New World were delivered from the Caribbean to the starving, wretched outpost of Jamestown, where the story of Mozingos in America begins.


I WAS STANDING over a copy editor in the Los Angeles Times newsroom one afternoon two years before my first trip to Africa, going over an article I had written, when the managing editor, Davan Maharaj, stopped by. He was new to that position, and I had met him only briefly. “So where’s that name Mozingo from?” he asked.


“We think it’s Central African.”


“I knew it,” he shot back. He said he’d first heard my name years back, when I was an intern and he was a reporter in another bureau, and he had asked his friend Ken about me. “Is he a black guy?”


“No, he’s white.”


“Really?”


“Yeah. He has blue eyes.”


“He’s got to be black.”


I was asked about my name about every other day of my adult life, and reactions to my response swung widely. A black colleague scoffed. A Rotarian the color of mayonnaise winced as if I were confiding the particulars of a bad circumcision. A prize-winning colleague with a Germanic last name sidled up to tell me Bantus danced with their butts sticking out. A female Haitian American friend asked me why I couldn’t dance. Some people nodded as if I were bullshitting them. A beautiful young cashier at a coffee shop tapped her fingers, dying for me to stop talking. Soldiers of political correctness stood in uncomfortable silence, well tutored not to ask the obvious follow-up, about why a white guy bore the name. Plenty of people found it fascinating. One Times editor started calling me Mandingo.


“It’s a long story,” I told Davan, hoping he would have the patience to hear it. I had been planning to pitch an article about my lineage as a first-person feature for the paper, so that I could devote myself full time to investigating this long-buried family history I had become enthralled with.


Davan grew up in the racially split Caribbean nation of Trinidad, the descendant, I would later learn, of an Indian preacher who went there to minister to indentured servants the British had imported from India after the African slave trade was banned. He was a foreign correspondent in Central Africa for a spell before he became an editor and moved back to L.A. Surely he would be interested in the thread of European imperialism that resulted in a white man bearing this name.


He vaguely recalled having come across the name in the Caribbean, where some African names survived. I told him that most recently I had heard that the earliest known ancestor in the lineage, Edward Mozingo, had likely come from what was then the Kingdom of Kongo, which straddled the border of today’s Angola and the Democratic Republic of Congo. One of Edward’s living descendants, Melicent Remy, a dogged researcher of his African origins, had tracked this down, but I wasn’t sure from where or whether her research was reliable.


“I think he married a white or light-skinned woman, and their sons married white women, and pretty soon they looked white,” I said. “But I hear there are some black Mozingos still.”


“We’re cousins, I bet,” he joked.


I laughed, not quite sure I understood, and made my final selling point on the rich tensions in this story: “There were Mozingos in the KKK.”


At that he laughed in delight.


“What does your dad think of this?” he asked.


“That’s a tough one,” I said. “He laughs. I don’t really know. I’m not sure he thinks it’s all true.


“I’ve wanted to write this story for years,” I added.


“You have to,” he said.





Chapter 2
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A Man Named Edward Mozingo


My father’s family landed in 1942 Los Angeles as if by immaculate conception, unburdened by the past. Growing up, I heard all about how my mother’s grandparents had come to California from southern France and Sweden. But my dad’s family was mentioned only obliquely. My grandfather Joe died before I was born, and I heard only a few stories about his youth in Hannibal, Missouri, how he once found a tarantula in a shipment of bananas at his dad’s corner store, how he explored the same caves where Tom Sawyer and Becky Thatcher ran from the fugitive Injun Joe. As an adult, friends called him “the Sheik” because he looked like Rudolph Valentino, handsome, with dark swept-back hair and an olive complexion. I didn’t know much more, and the only image of him I had in my mind came from a single photo I had seen of him, standing, gray hair combed back loosely, suavely smoking a cigarette. I knew absolutely nothing about his ancestors and might never have given the subject any thought except for our strange name.


When I was in grade school, on the first day of class my teachers always looked at the roster inexplicably stumped, as if my last name wasn’t pronounced exactly how it was spelled. “Joseph Ma . . . ma . . . monzeen . . . Uhm, is . . . where’s Joseph?” Even then, I registered how foreign everyone in my peripheral world thought it sounded.


My parents always said they thought Mozingo was Italian, but this was offered only as theory. At the time it didn’t really strike me as odd that such a basic piece of our identity could just vanish. We lived in a place where history had a way of getting lost. There were no family cemeteries or homesteads, no old money or old buildings, no pedigrees or legacies, no families we should or should not associate with based on bygone behavior. Life imitated a marketing scheme: southern California was a new place, truly a novelty by that late stage of human civilization, a place where you invented yourself.


My dad grew up in Hollywood, and a movie studio sat next door to his apartment building. The parallel universe of celebrity bubbled into his real childhood. My grandmother got to talking to Harriet Nelson at a sewing shop on Sunset Boulevard one day, and my dad and Uncle Joe ended up playing with Ricky a bunch of times at his house after school. Annette Funicello went to my dad’s middle school, and numerous child actors populated his high school. But my grandfather wanted his children taking no part of this world, which he viewed as predatory and perverse. When my dad came home one day when he was about ten years old and said a man in a convertible had stopped to tell him he should try out for a spot in a commercial, his father said, in one way or another, “No way in hell.”


When my grandfather saved enough money from his job at Hughes Aircraft Company, he bought the family a 1947 gray Buick Super and they moved over the hills to one of the new suburbs rising up all over the San Fernando Valley. My dad and uncle shared a room in a little wood-sided ranch house with a front lawn and a split-rail fence—the first land the family had owned, as far as they knew. The boys found high adventure exploring the swath of condemned homes—less than twenty years old—where crews were building the new Ventura Freeway. The Valley was the very epicenter of America’s new suburbia, exploding out of a patchwork of dust-blown agricultural towns. Between 1945 and 1960, the population rose from 230,000 to 840,500. Forty-five percent of families there had two cars by 1959, according to the historian Kevin Starr, and in the next two years, “permits were issued for six thousand residential swimming pools.”


I suspect my dad’s family felt a bit like interlopers. They knew their neighbors but didn’t have a wide group of friends or any extended family. I think a little dysfunction drifted along with them from a harder past. My dad never liked to talk about such things, but he’d offer glimpses: the time his mom waxed all the windows, then lost interest before cleaning the wax off and kept all the curtains closed for a year. He claimed they ate hamburgers nearly every night for a good portion of his childhood. These weren’t the ways of a sociable lot.


My mom’s side was different. Her parents had big families and circles of friends with deep roots to their old countries: France, and Sweden via Minnesota. Her grandparents were immigrants, and their late nineteenth-century crossing of the Atlantic served as a baseplate of their family history. My grandmother Madeline and my great-aunt Louise grew up at the turn of the century on a rented bean farm in the hills southwest of Los Angeles. Their parents were southern French, and the community was rural and poor, with French, Basque, and Mexican farmers. Madeline and Louise spoke French and Spanish before they ever spoke English. Their mother, Amelie, was dark and homely, from a Basque family, and had worked as a maid before getting married to their father, Jean, who died when they were young. She bought a house in the fast-growing town of Inglewood in 1928. The grant deed from the J. D. Millar Realty Company stated on the first page, “Said premises shall not be leased, sold, conveyed or rented to or occupied by any person other than one of the Caucasian race.” Apparently, brownish and Basque fit this designation well enough.


Inglewood had briefly become a hub for the Ku Klux Klan, which posted “Whites Only” signs all over downtown in the early 1920s and paraded at least once down Market Street in full white wizard regalia. Black people were migrating to Los Angeles from the South, but the Klan of that era focused their ire just as much on immigrants, Catholics, and bootleggers, which didn’t make it resoundingly popular in that part of the county. In 1922, Klansmen raided the home of the Elduayer family, Basques from Spain, whom they alleged were bootleggers. The white knights got in a subsequent shoot-out with police. A grand jury indicted thirty-five of them, and the group was outlawed in the state.


My grandmother married the son of Swedish immigrants, Elmer Ternquist, who grew up in Minnesota and California’s San Joaquin Valley. He attended UC Berkeley for a year, majoring in forestry, but had to drop out for lack of funds. He did some logging of redwoods on the North Coast, then got a job at Standard Oil in Los Angeles. During World War II, Elmer and Madeline bought a little bungalow in Inglewood, which was increasingly encroached upon by the ethnically diverse neighborhoods of South Los Angeles. My grandfather leased a Richfield gas station on Manchester and Normandie avenues, just east of their home, in an area then becoming predominantly black. By the time my mom was a teenager, racial tension was approaching the snapping point of the Watts riots in 1965.


With Brown v. Board of Education and a Supreme Court ruling that made racist real estate covenants unenforceable, Inglewood was the obvious next step for upwardly mobile African Americans looking for nicer neighborhoods. The whites scrambled to keep them back. Realtors refused to show them homes, and the schools would resist integration until the 1970s, well after it was rammed through in much of the South. The sense of the inevitable must have stoked the fierceness of their resistance in ways not felt in more distant suburbs. I can’t say that alone pushed my grandparents to move to the working-class beach town of Oceanside in 1962, when my mom was seventeen. For years they had rented a clapboard cottage there in summer and had always dreamed of living there year-round and fishing on the beach in the early mornings. But I can only imagine that in the mind-set of white America at the time, they foresaw their neighborhood going to hell.


For a time, you could always move somewhere newer in California. My parents met at UCLA and were the first in their families to graduate from college. My dad got his dental degree, after which they moved to Tustin, in the southern suburbs of Orange County, where my brother and I were born. We were surrounded by orange groves and could smell the dry sage of the mountains when the Santa Ana winds funneled through the canyons in fall. We could watch the summer fireworks burst over Disneyland seven miles away from the cool surface of my friend Erik’s brick front porch.


When I was four, we moved even farther south, to a shinier place. Dana Point was a town first conceived in 1926 by Los Angeles’s oligarchs. The group had just launched a Mediterranean-themed development in the Hollywood Hills, with fifty-foot letters above Beachwood Canyon that would come to be recognized around the world as the Hollywood sign. They now formed the Dana Point Syndicate and ran innumerable ads: “The New Recreational City on California’s sunny south coast, midway between Los Angeles and San Diego. . . . See the Golden Beauty of the South Coast at Autumn Times. When we say the delightful, ALL-YEAR-ROUND Climate of Dana Point, we mean just that. Golden Autumn Days . . . Mild, Mellow Winter Times . . . Gentle Smiling Spring . . . Refreshing, Exhilarating Summer.” This ad had the gumption to tell readers in Los Angeles that the climate just sixty miles south was more blessed than theirs, that the very light had a different cast. But I would have been sold. The illustration was idyllic: a young family standing next to their new Ford Model A on a bluff overlooking the sea, the man wearing a suit, the woman in a fur stole and a cloche hat. With their backs to the continent, they watched the sun set over the sheltered waters of Dana Cove—a vision of absolution, the dark damp past behind them.


The developer sought to invent a past with a “hacienda-style plaza” and adobe walls. The streets were lit by wrought-iron ship lanterns with glass of different colors, which were said to evoke an era when ships pulling into the harbor used such illumination to signal their fares.


The realization of this vision of Dana Point sputtered to a halt in the Depression. For decades, the development amounted to a square mile of paved streets and weedy vacant lots, with a couple dozen homes scattered about. Basque shepherds roamed the hills beyond, and tenant farmers grew dry crops of barley, sugar beets, and lima beans in the valleys. Lobster and abalone fishermen lived in a squatters’ camp of tar-paper shacks in the cove. The neglected bit of coast still remained a scruffy vestige of the frontier.


By the time we arrived in the 1970s, scrapers and bulldozers were just getting a new bite into the clay earth. The development boom had reared up, and the shepherds and tenants and coastal squatters had cleared out. The quaint old Spanish homes of Lantern Village quickly found themselves in the shadows of cheap stucco apartment buildings, favored by people who actually spoke Spanish. The plaza became a glorified strip mall, with Vic’s Market, Raymar Cleaners, and a Christian Science reading room. The copper lanterns had mostly vanished, used as scrap metal during World War II. And new subdivisions, without the charm and vision of the original, mushroomed up all over.


We moved to a master-planned community that sat on the undefined edge of Dana Point and another town, conjured in a boardroom in the 1960s, named Laguna Niguel, supposedly after an Indian village that had vanished in the Spanish era. The developer had a document printed in grandiose calligraphy: “Chain of Title from the King of Spain to Laguna Niguel Corporation.” Our house was an eighteen-hundred square-foot, Brady Bunch–style ranch near the highway. It had rust-colored carpet, avocado tile, a wet bar with reflective wallpaper, and a bidet in the master bathroom that my brother and I liked to turn on and watch spray the ceiling. My parents owned the house but leased the land from the developer, AVCO, which made the deal more affordable, though not a particularly sound investment. They had to be interviewed by the Monarch Bay Association before they could buy, which undoubtedly was the developer’s way of keeping out blacks, Jews, Asians, and whoever they saw as Mexican ever since the Supreme Court outlawed redlining the old-fashioned way. The association probably just wanted to get a look at my parents, what with a name like Mozingo.


The area was still mostly undeveloped but changing fast. The janitor at my elementary school had to check for rattlesnakes under the bushes every morning. Pets regularly disappeared to the coyotes and mountain lions that still roamed the hills. Cattle grazed along the roads, and tumbleweeds bounced across the parkway and blocked the automatic sliding glass doors of the new Alpha Beta supermarket.


We settled into a life that, on the surface, wasn’t too far off from those old ads. Freckles expanded out from my nose every summer and retreated in winter, and my bottom lip was constantly split from the sun. I had towhead blond hair in a 1970s bowl cut with a tenacious cowlick no amount of spit could keep down. One day not long after we arrived, my mom dragged me down the street, round the corner, and over three speed bumps to meet another freckled little boy, Richard Fox. His mom answered the door and talked to my mom, and he peeked out from behind a sliding door.


“I’ve got homework,” said Richard, age four.


“You do not have homework,” his mom said.


We became best friends. We shot BB guns in the drainage easement next to my house, launched off speed bumps on skateboards, built a motorless go-cart with no brakes, rode our dirt bikes in the vacant lots and empty hills, played soccer and baseball.


I could be an introverted kid, and I also spent lots of time alone in the wild triangle of my back-backyard that we called “the Way Back.” It was a castoff part of our wedge-shaped property, below street level, surrounded by oleanders and an overgrown bougainvillea. One day I dragged some splintery, dirt-coated boards from the drainage easement that I’d been pondering for months, wondering if the cowboys, or the Spanish, had left them there. The two planks were about as tall as I was, connected by one bolt in the center. They swiveled like scissors, chafing soft splinters, and had two rusted caster wheels attached to the bottom. I painted part of this contraption blue when my dad gave me some paint. I thought I could make it into a land cruiser, like Luke Skywalker’s, and glide around the neighborhood amazing my friends.


The Way Back was my domain of escape. No doors opened directly to it, and my mom usually just called out through the louvered window of her closet to tell me to come inside for dinner. This was where I jetted off to the moment I got off the school bus to work on whatever project my imagination conjured. I stayed out there as late as I could, but an eeriness always set in about an hour before sunset, and there was always a feeling I shouldn’t dwell there too long.


When I was eleven, I found a less solitary refuge in surfing, the dominant lifestyle on the coast since the 1960s, the Beach Boys, Jan and Dean, and all that hype. There was no way to avoid it, and I didn’t try to. Once I got the knack of it—no easy feat—I found that gliding down the face of a wave, trying to duck in and out of its watery throat, was pure reckless joy. I never had a stray thought or outside worry riding a wave, and as I grew older I appreciated the invigorating elements of the Pacific in fall and winter—the frigid water trying to drown you, the wind, the rain, the freezing headaches, the slogging paddle through oncoming waves and entangling kelp. The battle against the cold washed away any psychic dreariness settling down on late adolescence. And in high school, surfing offered a ready-made package as I hashed out an identity. It had its own fashion and pidgin language. “Tzuupbra? . . . Bro, it’s toadly blown, victry at sea. . . . Ded, tsoff the rick!” (In college, a phonologist who had never heard the high nasal accent of this dialect wanted to study my voice.) Surfing presented an entire self-contained society. “An esoteric statusphere” is what Tom Wolfe called it in The Pump House Gang, all very white, exclusive, and snotty, in retrospect. We called people who lived five miles inland “quebs.”


In this place where new cities and cultures and pastimes just boiled up, your narrative felt like it was yours alone. There was no sense of a longer one, threading through generations, whose struggles, secrets, failures, ambitions, and dreams propelled the epic to your moment on stage.


But there was this name everyone kept asking about. Mo-ZEENG-go. No corporate committee at AVCO invented that. It did sound kind of Italian.


Then one day my dad came home with news that he’d had lunch with an attorney near his office named Glen Mozingo. We all talked it over at dinner. I was about twelve and couldn’t believe there was another Mozingo in town. I thought we were a lone tribe. What did he know about our history?


“He said he was down in Calexico and the phone book was filled with Mozingos,” my dad told us. I knew vaguely of Calexico, sitting on the California side of the Mexican border, with a twin on the other side called Mexicali. “They’re all Basque sheepherders apparently.”


Sheepherders, I thought, stricken. It sounded so Old World.


I never questioned the underpinnings of the story. Did the white pages list a Tomas Mozingo, shepherd, Basque? Or was this discovered in the yellow pages section between “Shelving” and “Shingles”: Sheepherding, Mozingo? It didn’t matter. We’d heard the Basque country as a possible origin once before, vaguely connected to a rumor espoused by my dad’s mom that the name arose from Mont Zingeau, a French or Swiss mountain so discreet as not to be found on any map. And we knew my mom’s side had lots of Basque, so it was no big leap. My dad was even writing a novel set in the Basque country.


So we were Basque, not Italian. That easy.


But in the ensuing Basque phase, I never really felt Basque. Italian was already imprinted on my psyche in that nebulous way you can associate a feeling with a single word. I had flashes of understanding of what being Italian meant, mainly based on one of my baseball coaches, Joe Sarlo, who was stocky and tan, with a Brooklyn accent and wavy silver hair combed back in a fifties kind of way. People’s names were our only reference points in Orange County. History just had no other hold. Richard Fox was German Jewish on one side and Irish Catholic on the other. His grandmother escaped Hitler’s Germany before the Holocaust. Yet I knew none of this growing up. The only obvious vestige of his ancestry came on Sunday, when his dad dragged him to church. My other best friend, Erik Hilde, had Mexican ancestry on one side and Norwegian on the other. His great-grandparents came to southern California during the Mexican Revolution. Yet he didn’t think of himself as Latino, or Scandinavian. He was just from Tustin.


This vacuum of history left me subconsciously groping around for a connection to the past, which I realized only later. The destruction of the natural landscape where I grew up initially fixed my focus on the history of where I lived more than on my family origins. My childhood attachments to cattle ranches and orange groves and hawks circling in the canyons felt like fading dreams of some deep truth.


I began to seek out old photos of the area and studied them. I read accounts of the old ranchers and drew pictures of an abandoned train station near my house. When I visited my great-aunt Louise in Oceanside, I’d ask her about growing up with Grandma on their bean farm. She told me that all the famous boulevards—Santa Monica, Wilshire, Pico—were just rutted dirt roads back then, cutting through bean fields, citrus groves, and truck farms. She told me that hemp grew on the empty hillsides, and when the horses ate it, they went crazy. The people called it “locoweed.” She still spoke fluent Spanish and French.


I read and reread Two Years Before the Mast by Richard Henry Dana, who sailed the California coast on a Boston brig trading cattle hides when the area was still a Mexican territory, about sixty years before my grandmother’s parents got there. The hides from this desolate coast supplied the Yankee leather industry on the other side of the continent. Dana’s ship, the Pilgrim, anchored one spring day in 1838 in the lee of the point that was later named after him. His account was enrapturing: sperm whales breaching in the channel, surf crashing against “grand and broken” rocks. “The only habitation in sight was the small white mission of San Juan Capistrano, with a few Indian huts about it, standing in a small hollow, about a mile from where we stood. . . . There was a grandeur in everything around, which gave a solemnity to the scene, a silence and solitariness which affected every part. Not a human being but ourselves for miles, and no sound heard but the pulsations of the great Pacific.”


I hiked out on that perch, now above a sheltered harbor with a replica of the Pilgrim at dock. Looking out over the water gave me the sensation of a new dimension opening up, the past suddenly visible, just inches out of reach. The feeling of connectedness to nature and time was a euphoria I had never felt.


This obsession with history stayed with me through college in San Diego. I studied biology and shared a house with nine guys, mostly surfers, who became close friends. Toward the end of high school, I had taken up oil painting, and in college I did more of it, starting to think it might be my calling. This created a relentless tension with my studies and a constant struggle in my mind over whether I would pursue a responsible career like medicine, or take a risk and be an artist. I reveled in moments alone now, hiking in the chaparral, mountain biking in a nearby canyon, surfing during bad weather when no one else was out. Sometimes I felt isolated, but at other times a sharp sense of harmonic convergence with the outside world overcame me. It was bliss.


Those moments fed the artist in me. But by the time I graduated with a pre-med degree in biology, I had doubts about my painting abilities, though I was still desperate to have a career with a creative core to it. Throughout my childhood, my dad had made it quite clear that he felt stifled with dentistry, and he took any chance he could to hole up in his back office and work on his novel. I didn’t want a job where I always felt torn from what I really wanted to be doing. But what was that?


I considered every imaginable career option. To stall and make a living, I got a job laying tile in custom homes. The physical work—dragging fifty-pound buckets of cement in each hand up the stairs over and over—kept my mind away from my increasingly regurgitated and depressed thoughts. I loved the work, but soon the tedium gnawed at me. What’s more, a quietly ambitious upstart named Rufino, recently arrived from Oaxaca, began outpacing me. The way things were headed I was soon going to be the college-educated underling of an illegal immigrant who started with nothing in life. I woke up with a shudder one night, having dreamed I was at a local pub with friends, and grabbing a nacho, suddenly realized it was a shard of paver tile, dipped in grout.


The downward pressure on my ego caused it to bulge out in strange places. I started writing a novel with no plot or point or characters, except for a deity worshipped by the Indians of San Juan Capistrano named Chinigchinich. At the time, I suspected this might be the beginnings of a masterpiece of some sort, while today I can only pray that the hard drive of that computer was put through a wood chipper.


If I wanted to write, I needed to learn the craft and for God’s sake find subjects outside of my own head to write about. Journalism had bumped around my mind for a few years. My mom had been a reporter for a spell, and she and my dad nudged me with “Hemingway started out as a journalist.” It suddenly clicked that this was what I would do. I launched into grad school in journalism as if I had leapt for the landing skids of the last helicopter off the embassy roof in Saigon.


On the first day of grad school in Los Angeles, I found myself, remarkably, in the office of a broadcast journalism professor named Sherrie Mazingo. She was short and gruff and black, with a low nasal voice, a great cackle, and an unnerving way of pausing for extended periods of time in conversation. She said her name was a variation of ours. “I went to a family reunion in North Carolina and I met this woman named Melicent Remy, who’d done all this research on the family name. You need to talk to Melicent. She said we all descend from a man named Edward Mozingo, who was living in Virginia in the 1600s. He was black.”


“Hmm,” I said, in the high arching tone in which you might say, “I’ll be damned.” My language skills had deteriorated sharply during my tile years, and I had developed anxiety about speaking not just in public, but in any circumstance where being intelligible was reasonably expected. With these journalism professors, who knew big shots like Dan Rather, I was a virtual mute.


She continued. “She said he was a warrior from the Congo and that our name is Bantu.”


This came so out of nowhere I struggled to find an appropriate response. “We always heard it was Basque,” I managed.


She shrugged, bored with me no doubt, and looked to someone waiting outside her office. “Well, there you go.”


I called my parents to tell them to prepare for the Bantu phase. They laughed, dutifully noting, “Grandma Helen would roll over in her grave.” The news jogged a memory from my dad: soon after he opened his dental practice in Tustin with a friend named Tony Mumolo from UCLA, a black woman was waiting at the counter of Mumolo & Mozingo, DDS, when my dad came out of the operatory. “He’s the dentist?” she asked angrily, and stormed out. “What was that about?” my dad asked the receptionist. Colleagues took to calling them “the witch doctors.”


The Bantu news felt like a lark, too strange and lacking in context to take seriously.


At the time, I had been living for a couple weeks with my uncle Joe at the old home in the Valley he’d inherited. My uncle was a leisurely man of more than leisurely girth, who was as unbothered and genial as anyone I knew. He was a manager in the City of Los Angeles information technology department. He’d bought a giant RV and parked it in his backyard, ceding the stale-smelling house to his two springer spaniels and his ever-growing piles of impulse buys: coffeepots, steam irons, Montblanc pens, travel kennels, binoculars, badminton rackets, exercise equipment, camera lenses, socket wrench sets. We ate dinner every night in that immaculately clean, air-conditioned RV. One night before I retired to the stuffy hoarder’s cave that was once our family’s mark of having made it in America, I told him about the man in Virginia and our Bantu roots. He embraced the story and the next day would tell his two black secretaries that he was descended from an African warrior.


“You know,” he said, “Dad always said the Mozingos came from Virginia back in colonial times.”


I had never heard this and hadn’t thought any lore had passed down about our ancestry. Maybe Sherrie was right. Why couldn’t we have a black ancestor? Ten or so generations had passed since then.


One day, I grabbed a pen and a pad of paper and calculated the number of direct ancestors I had ten generations back—multiplying two and two, ten times over—to be 1,024. So one of them was black, big deal. Based on photos of my mom’s brown relatives in once-Moorish southern France, we had certainly gotten a much healthier dose of African blood from them.


But over the next year or two, this Bantu thing began to take root in my imagination. An African name had survived the entire span of American history—and I had it?


SHERRIE GAVE ME copies of some papers she got from Cousin Melicent, who had indeed done vast research tracing Mozingos back to this Edward. Sherrie’s line had moved to North Carolina by the early 1800s and was one of several that stayed on the black side of the color line.


I started poking around on the fledgling Internet, visited the Mormon family history center in Westwood, and holed up with the homeless people sleeping in the genealogy department of the Los Angeles Central Library. I looked through book after book documenting the passenger lists of ships arriving in America, and at census, tax, and court records.


A reference librarian handed me the Minutes of the Council and General Court of Colonial Virginia. The book was seventy-two years old, with a grimy canvas binder, faded olive cover, and brittle pages the color of weak tea. I opened it delicately, but even so, each turn set off a flurry of paper flakes. On page 316 I found the heading “Mozingo’s ordr for freedom.”


Whereas it Appeareth by divers Witnesses that had been Sworne and Examined that Edward Mozingo A Negro man had been and was An Apprentice by Indenture to Coll Jno Walker and that by Computation of his terme of Servitude for Twenty Eight year’s is now Expired, the Court after a full heareing of the Matter In differrence Betweene the Said Edw: Mozingo and Doctor Stone who married Coll Walker’s Widdow, It is Adjudged by this Court that the said Edw: Mozingo be and Remayne free to all Intents and purposes by order of This Court.


I grasped the back of my head and leaned back. Reading the name Mozingo on those old pages gave me that same feeling of a new dimension opening up. First, somewhat inanely, it shocked me simply that there were Mozingos so far back, that we didn’t arise from spontaneous generation on a petri dish at the turn of the century. Then the real shot of awe: we really might have come from Africa, not sixty thousand years ago, like everyone on the planet, but with this very man fighting for his freedom in a Virginia court.


Over the next few months, I read as much as I could about the first Africans in Virginia and learned that though they left Africa as slaves they did not always remain slaves in the Chesapeake. Some were indentured servants who got their freedom and even married and had children with poor whites. I had so many more questions but had to let them go. I was finishing school and needed to get my career going. I couldn’t keep indulging my imagination, even though that’s what I really wanted to do.


I started working at the Los Angeles Times, then moved to Florida to work for the Miami Herald. Little moments kept my curiosity about our name smoldering. White people who commented about it assumed it was Italian. Black people tended not to volunteer opinions, until I went to Haiti to cover one of its perennial rounds of instability in 2004. In that country, with its tenacious African customs and language, I got an invariable response when I introduced myself: “That’s an African name.”


Then one day, snooping around online, I came across an interesting article in Wired magazine that featured two cousins, Reese and Thomas Mozingo, who were using DNA to solve the riddle of their ancestry. The writer interviewed them in Tennessee at a conference about preserving the heritage of the Melungeons, a dark-skinned group of mysterious origin who had settled in the isolated hollows around the Cumberland Gap. Reese and Tom had gone there to see if Mozingos were among them.


Reese struck quite a figure in the photo, built like a pickle barrel with a huge gray beard and suspenders over a flannel shirt. He was from Fayetteville, North Carolina, and if you were going to learn the secret of your own past, he seemed the perfect man to deliver it, perhaps stumbling down from a mountain cave with it seared onto an animal hide.


The pair told the writer that all Mozingos in America descended from Edward, who may have been a “Native American, Italian, or Negro.”


“Wouldn’t you love to find the Mozingo fiddle?” Thomas asked Reese. “God, I’d love to find that fiddle.”


They said they had submitted their DNA for analysis to find out once and for all if they descended from Edward, and had received the results, but needed more “conclusive evidence” before they shared them publicly.


By this time I’d met my future wife, Noaki, who was mixed race, her mom born in Japan, her dad in Ohio of German Jewish and Irish stock. When we had our son, Blake, in 2006, we moved back to California to be near our families. Blake took much coaxing to get to sleep, and I began making up nonsensical songs and phrases as I rocked him. Sometimes, around when he was learning to talk, I would regale him with the most nonsensical word I knew: Mo-ZEENG-oe. He would laugh at that fly-away ZEENG, and sing it back to me. I pictured it ricocheting around the room, like a trapped bat trying to get out a window. As the chair creaked on the floorboards, I would think about the children he would have, and their children, and so on, until I faded from memory, and then Blake did, and all that would be left was this funny name that came with no family history, that no one knew how we got. I couldn’t leave the mystery to my descendants.





Chapter 3



[image: logo]


Middle Passage to Jamestown


The natural starting point to unearth my roots was Reese Mozingo, who had already done so much research on his own similar quest. He knew what his DNA had revealed, and his interest in connecting himself to the mixed-race Melungeons suggested his mind was open, even if he felt he had to protect others from what he found. I wanted to hear more about that fiddle. But a quick search online ruled him out: he had been shot to death in 2003 by his wife in a domestic dispute; no charges were filed against her, if that says anything about him. So went my hope in the bearded oracle from Fayetteville.


I located his distant cousin mentioned in the article, Tom Mozingo, a retired nuclear power plant operator living in Florida, who responded quickly to my email. “I have been researching the Mozingo surname for approximately 40 years,” he began. All lines went back to Virginia, and Mozingos had fought in all of our wars. He asked me who my grandfather was so that he could find out what line I came from; I suspect he was also testing my legitimacy as a member of the tribe. He continued, “I wear the name, as do you, as many of our cousins also do, as our children and grandchildren do; these cousins and their families are now truly part of my extended family, and I respect their right to privacy; and since you work for a very large newspaper company, I am going to be cautious and try to balance the information I provide to you with the promises I have given to my extended ‘families’ concerning their right to privacy. I will promise you total honesty and if I cannot divulge something, I will tell you so. I hope you are not offended by my caution.”
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